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THE quotations from the first volume of Péron’s Voyage de découvertes aux Terres Australes largely follow Richard Phillips’s English edition of 1809. Only where the translation has wandered too far from the original French or modern English1 have I made changes. In some places I have also revised Phillips’s archaic English spelling. Regardless of whether or not the translated quotations have been revised, I have cited the page numbers from both the original French edition and the Phillips translation in my notes. However, for the second volume of Péron’s Voyage, completed by Louis de Freycinet, I have used Christine Cornell’s fine 2003 translation with her kind permission and without alteration. The page numbers for these quotations are also cited from the original French edition with bracketed page numbers for the published translation.


I have avoided translating many institutional names, but I have translated many naval ranks despite the fact that they do not always have exact English equivalents. For example, although the aspirants of the Baudin expedition were roughly equivalent to that of a British naval cadet and a midshipman combined, I have translated this rank as midshipman, as Frank Horner did before me. Where the rank of ensign appears in the text it is as a translation of enseigne de vaisseau. At the time of Baudin’s expedition, this designated a sublieutenant promoted from the lower deck, who could be any age from eighteen to thirty. An enseigne de vaisseau, however, had more responsibility than a sublieutenant in the British navy. And where I have referred to someone as a lieutenant, this is an abbreviation of lieutenant de vaisseau. This should not be confused with the Ancien Régime intermediate naval rank of lieutenant de frégate, which was junior even to enseigne de vaisseau. My final authority in the translation of French nautical terms has been the classic Dictionnaire de la marine à voile by Pierre-Marie-Joseph de Bonnefoux, first published in 1848 and revised by E. Paris in 1856. I have also converted dates from the French Revolutionary calendar to Gregorian equivalents. Readers will find more information in my glossary of French terms.


In rendering pre-metric French measurements originally in lieues, pieds, pouces, livres and tonneaux, I have used feet, pounds and tons as a free translation, rather than attempting qualified equivalents. Mile in this biography usually refers to the French nautical mile (1.852 kilometres), almost the same as an English nautical mile and approximate to a minute of latitude. Péron also used some obsolete metric measurements such as decametres, but included pieds and pouces in brackets in his Voyage. I have not converted these to centimetres; instead I have retained the measurements of the published translations. I have also retained some old French spellings such as Henry with a ‘y’, as in Henry de Freycinet.


When citing French titles or the names of French institutions (such as museums, archives, academies and so on) I have generally attempted to follow French grammatical rules and capitalisation styles. Some variation appears in the capitalisation of the months of the revolutionary calendar; I have cited them as I found them in the titles of documents, but otherwise left them in lower case according to modern French convention. I have tried to orient my readers with reference to the old provinces of France (such as Bourbonnais, Franche Comté, Brittany, Normandy and Dauphiné), but when referring to small towns and hamlets, I have generally given the name of the surrounding present-day département. Although I have abandoned some archaic anglicisms, I have not forsaken familiar English equivalents such as Napoleon, without the acute accent. Similarly, modern Australian accentless versions of the place-names that originated from the Baudin voyage have also been employed, as have modern Indonesian spellings. Nevertheless, given the repeated use of several archaic toponyms in my primary sources, I have thought it best to retain them for historical ambience. These include Ile de France (modern Mauritius), New Holland (mainland Australia) and Van Diemen’s Land (Tasmania). The last two date from Abel Tasman’s voyage of 1642. After this explorer effectively circumnavigated the known ‘south land’ and established that it was an island continent, it was given the name ‘Nova Hollandia’ (Latin = New Holland) on the Eugene Map (c. 1644), which consolidated the discoveries of the early Dutch navigators. Tasman also named his southern landfall of November 1642 ‘Anthonie Van Diemensland’ in honour of the governor of the Dutch East Indies. He was unaware, however, that it was an island separate from New Holland. In 1854, in order to make a break with its brutal convict past, Van Diemen’s Land was officially renamed Tasmania in honour of its discoverer.


Because this is the biography of a naturalist, it contains the scientific names of many plants and animals collected during the Baudin expedition. Although the extent of taxonomic discussion might be tedious for some readers, it is unavoidable for a serious discussion of Péron’s life and work. Nevertheless, I have not always felt it necessary to cite the name of every zoological or botanical author after every species mentioned in the narrative. In discussing taxonomic revision, I have often inserted the generally accepted modern equivalent of an original name in parentheses. But when Péron collected a species that had already been described, and in turn revised, I have not gone to the extent of citing the author of a basionym in yet another set of parentheses. Finally, I have sought to ease the confusion of some readers with a glossary of basic scientific terms at the end of the book.
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The principal French and German cities and towns associated with Péron’s life
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The tracks of the Géographe and Naturaliste, May 1801 to June 1802
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The tracks of the Géographe and Casuarina, November 1802 to July 1803
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… possessing an impetuous imagination that never bent to authority, of a dangerous and sometimes dishonest and imprudent frankness, too sure of my opinions that I maintain without reserve, full of heedlessness and inconsistency …


FRANÇOIS PÉRON, NOVEMBER 1800


SOMEWHERE in the Atlantic aboard the French vessel of discovery Géographe in November 1800, a young man of twenty-five stringently reviewed his life. There was no priest to hear his ‘mea culpa’. He confessed on paper, reflecting on his studies and on the painful years of war he had known as a soldier and as a prisoner in Germany. He declared all his failings and then surveyed his saving graces. Despite all his imperfections—his thoughtlessness, stubbornness, indiscretion and querulousness—he felt redeemed by the qualities he could see in his own heart. He was not without gentleness, affection or kindness. Despite the war crimes of his compatriots, he had found love and esteem even among hapless German civilians. He recognised his eccentricities and his discomfit with social norms and customs, and he recognised that he had often alienated his friends. Nevertheless he had always managed to make amends and to gain forgiveness. The young man was François Péron, naturalist of a major voyage of exploration to Australian waters between 1800 and 1803. It is hard to know exactly what provoked this rigorous self-examination, found among his papers on his death ten years later:1 possibly self-doubt in the wake of recent thwarted love for the daughter of a wealthy notary in his hometown; possibly the first of what would eventually become many differences with the commander of the expedition, Nicolas Baudin. Ultimately, when he wrote the official account of the expedition, Péron would cast aside the moral scruples that appeared to concern him so much and poison the very wells of his commander’s reputation. It is perhaps not surprising that the ethical and emotional tensions that Péron identified in himself should have characterised his life.


My own curiosity about Péron was first aroused, in 1983, when I consulted the report in which he took it upon himself to assess the strengths and weaknesses of the infant British colony of Port Jackson and called for its conquest with the aid of rebellious Irish convicts. Péron presented this report to Captain-General Decaen, Governor of the Ile de France (now Mauritius). This island is where my mother was born, and I had come across a microfilm of Péron’s secret memoir in the course of research at the National Library. Some of my Franco-Mauritian forebears probably met Péron, if not Baudin. Others must have studied under the expedition’s distinguished hydrographer, Pierre Faure,2 the botanist Jacques Delisse and Midshipman Julien Billard,3 all of whom taught for many years at the Collège Royal, after settling on the island. Michel Garnier, one of the original artists of the Baudin expedition, was certainly taken prisoner by the British along with one of my direct ancestors. Yet another of my forebears, taken prisoner by the Royal Navy the previous year, was one of the French naval officers finally exchanged for Matthew Flinders—another prominent figure in this story. Having searched, unsuccessfully, for Baudin’s last resting place in Mauritius in 1984,4 I was immediately drawn to Frank Horner’s masterly work, The French Reconnaissance, when it was published in 1987. Although I did not mince words about Péron’s ‘calumny’ in my review, I remained intrigued by the complex human chemistry of the expedition and Baudin’s chequered reputation. And the more I read of Péron, the more I realised that he was deserving of more detailed scholarship.


There have already been a number of accounts of François Péron’s life, beginning with the two elegies that appeared within a year of his death: one by Marie-Joseph Alard, Secretary-General of the Société médicale, the other by Joseph-Philippe-François Deleuze, librarian of the Muséum national d’histoire naturelle in Paris. Both men held Péron in high regard. Deleuze had access to some of his private papers and also sought detailed reminiscences from his close friends, including Charles-Alexandre Lesueur. Almost half a century later in 1855, when France had the misfortune to be ruled by yet another Bonaparte, a competition was held by the Société d’Emulation de l’Allier for the writing of an historical account of Péron’s life. The winner of the competition was the entomologist Maurice Girard, and his glowing tribute to François Péron was published in Paris and Moulins in 1856. Girard’s biography is noteworthy for the oral history he recorded from one individual who had known Péron personally in his youth and from the grandson of another. It would seem that a runner-up in this local competition was the historian Louis Audiat, who published a competing, yet equally glowing, account of Péron’s life in Moulins in 1855. Audiat might have attempted to steal Girard’s thunder by rushing into print first, but his work tells us little that was not already recorded in the elegies of Alard and Deleuze or in Péron’s own account of his voyage with Baudin. In many respects the same can be said of the two biographies that appeared in the twentieth century: the first by Emile Guillaumin in 1937, the other by Colin Wallace in 1984. For all their valid recognition of Péron’s achievements, both repeated old errors, embellished facts in the quest for an engaging narrative and avoided a critical assessment of their subject’s relationship with Nicolas Baudin. The hagiographic tone of Guillaumin’s work, for example, was willingly embraced by one anonymous reviewer who saw Péron ultimately ‘as a prodigious worker, a firm and correct character, a hero, a kind of saint …’.5 More recently, urologist Georges Rigondet has given us yet another hagiography, employing the techniques of a novelist, with passages of invented dialogue, even some invented characters and a great deal of romantic reconstruction and supposition.


Of English-language historians, Colin Wallace was not the first to express considerable admiration for Péron. One of Australia’s most respected historians, Sir Ernest Scott, in his fine study Terre Napoléon published in 1910, thought Péron unreliable as an historian of the voyage, but wrote:




One would conclude from his style of writing that he was by temperament excitable and easily subject to depression. A zealous savant, to whom fishes and birds, beetles and butterflies, were the precious things of the earth, and for whom the discovery of a new species was as great a source of joy as a glorious victory was to his imperial master, Péron appeals to us as a pathetic figure whom one would rather screen from blame than otherwise. He suffered severely, and did his final work under the difficulty of breaking health.6





And in his penultimate chapter, Scott declared: ‘Of Péron’s personal character, and of the value of his scientific work, nothing but high praise can be written. He was but a young man when he died. Had he lived, we cannot doubt that he would have filled an important place among French men of science, for his diligence was coupled with insight, and his love of research was as deep as his aptitude for it was keen.’7


Scott also had little time for accusations levelled against Péron as an envious and ungracious spy.8 He recognised that the British let Péron see only what they wanted him to see during his visit to Port Jackson. Nevertheless, Scott was not blind to the injustice perpetrated by Péron and Louis de Freycinet in their treatment of Baudin in the official account of the expedition and their ‘consistent suppression of his name throughout the text of the volumes’. Hence he wrote:




Attention has to be directed to this display of animosity because, in bare justice to Baudin, we have to remember that the only story of the expedition which we have is that written by Péron and Freycinet, who were plainly at enmity with him. If the facts were as related by them, Baudin was not only an absurdly obstinate and ungenial captain, but we are left with grave doubts as to his competency as a navigator on service of this description. Yet even facts, when detailed by those who hate a man, take a different colouring from the same facts set down by the man himself, with his reasons for what he did.9





Scott did not have access to Baudin’s journals, but he felt compelled to remark that in ‘his conduct and correspondence in relation to Governor King at Port Jackson … he appears as a gentleman of agreeable manners, graceful expression, and ready tact’.10


The revisionist histories of the expedition, produced with access to its journals, have done much to rehabilitate Baudin.11 But some popular histories, such as Klaus Toft’s documentary film and book, The Navigators, have marginalised Péron as Baudin’s vengeful nemesis.12 Others have been more sympathetic. Leslie Marchant in his book France Australe recognised Péron’s ‘passionate nature’ and the difficulties experienced by scientists attempting to work under rigid naval discipline. He also believed that there was a politically charged atmosphere aboard the expedition and asserted that many of its bitter differences were ideological: ‘Péron was a revolutionary. Baudin was an officer of the old school. Péron had fought for the revolution and his beliefs. Baudin at the time Péron was fighting and was wounded was serving in the ships of the enemy of the French Revolution, Austria, whose armies had captured Péron. Harmony between these two was thus not readily possible.’13


In fact, Péron was taken prisoner by the Prussians and, as we shall see, he appears to have been more politically conservative than many historians have assumed. Frank Horner, despite his vindication of Baudin, did not seek to gloss over his faults; and while he exposed Péron’s faults too, he also recognised the presence of an extraordinary young man:




In some ways Péron was another Bory [de Saint-Vincent]: he had the same tireless passion for natural history, and the same deep patriotism rooted in service with his country’s armies. But Péron’s origins were as poor as Bory’s were affluent; his scientific interests were even broader than Bory’s: they seem to have embraced almost the whole of science, including even the new field of anthropology. His short life was lived with a prodigal expense of energy; the scientific ventures he embarked on during the expedition, whether as described by himself or others, tend to leave the reader with a sense of excess, like the style and substance of his Voyage; his manner of speech seems to have exhausted even himself … It is not hard to imagine how a man like Baudin, living with such a phenomenon, could find so much zeal too much. The real tragedy of Péron’s life was his failure to concentrate his superabundant energies in the channel where they would have been most rewarding to himself and the world: zoology.14





Most historians have given only cursory attention to Péron’s achievements as a zoologist; however, a number of scientists have undertaken important studies of particular aspects of his (and his collaborator Charles-Alexandre Lesueur’s) collections. They include Jacqueline Bonnemains, Jacqueline Goy and Michel Jangoux as well as Marie-Louise Bauchot, Jean-Claude Braconnot, Gérard Breton, Claire Bustarret, Claude Carré, Claude Chappuis, Jacques Daguet, Françoise Debard, Jane Fromont, Jean-Loup d’Hondt, Lipke Holthuis, Diana Jones, Charles Roux and Rolande Roux-Estève. As an historian, I have used their work as a guiding thread through the scientific labyrinth. Significantly, one of these scientists, Michel Jangoux, has also offered a convincing character assessment of Péron: ‘a complex and paradoxical person. Intelligent and brilliant, impetuous and excited but also warm and loyal in friendship, without doubt presumptuous, certainly ambitious, he was all these things at the same time[,] which has baffled more than one of his biographers.’15


Several historians have harshly criticised Péron as an anthropologist —although anthropology was not his official responsibility during the expedition—and some have misrepresented his views on race.16 Most have ignored his significance as a philosophical traveller whose observations, particularly on the convict system in New South Wales, were surprisingly influential in France. All narratives are to some extent self-serving. Péron’s Voyage de découvertes aux Terres australes is clearly no exception, but as a participant observer with an impressive intellect, his account remains a valuable document of Baudin’s expedition—albeit one that must be read discerningly. Had Péron deserted or died, like so many of his colleagues, the glory of the expedition would have been greatly diminished. The zoological specimens he gathered with his colleagues during the voyage were, at the time, the most comprehensive Australian natural history collection ever made. Soon after, kangaroos, emus and black swans graced the grounds of the Empress Joséphine’s château at Malmaison. Today, many Australian species bear Péron’s name as specific epithets and honour his contribution as an early zoological collector. At a time when the discovery of new species and genera was seen as the height of zoological pursuit, Péron enjoyed considerable kudos.


Nevertheless, his scientific efforts went well beyond the mere ordering of the natural world. Péron’s writings suggest sympathy for the ‘transmutationist’ ideas of his contemporary Lamarck, who believed in species change through the inheritance of acquired characteristics. Péron certainly drew attention to the effects of climate and geography as forces of species modification. Although he did not argue an overt evolutionary case, based on natural selection in the modern Darwinian sense, his writings certainly had a broader systematic, morphological and biogeographical significance, upon which later evolutionary ecology was built. As we shall see, Lamarck made numerous references to Péron’s work in a number of his publications.17 It is also significant that Péron was one of the authors whom Charles Darwin read (in the original French) and respected. Indeed he cited the Voyage in a footnote in The Voyage of the Beagle and made reference to Péron’s observations on sea-elephant polygamy in The Descent of Man. And in the latter work, Darwin commented on the secondary sexual characteristics of a species of leatherjacket collected by Péron and Lesueur off the north-western Australian coast and subsequently named in Péron’s honour: Monacanthus peroni (= Acanthaluteres peroni).


In 1804, in his ‘Mémoire sur quelques faits zoologiques applicables à la théorie du globe’, Péron expressed his personal awe at the nexus between some biological and geological processes. Reflecting on the role of marine creatures in slowly laying down sedimentary deposits, such as coral reefs and limestone formations, he wrote: ‘these frail animals which were ignored for so long, and which are still despised, multiply on the bottom of the sea—stupendous witnesses of a power which defies the centuries, and which our imagination itself refuses to comprehend’.18 Despite the implicit gradualism of this statement, faced with the geological anomalies he encountered during his travels—such as the presence of marine fossils far above modern sea level—Péron adopted a ‘catastrophist’ position, probably rooted in the ideas of Buffon and Pallas, and viewed the geological past as a series of cataclysmic ‘revolutions’. Tom Vallance asserted that these ideas gained Péron ‘wide notice, the more so after [Georges] Cuvier’s espousal of the doctrine’.19 He was certainly cited by Cuvier, one of the greatest scientists of his time.20 But it would be a mistake to think that such notions came from some desperate clinging to Genesis and a rationalisation of the Noachic flood. There was a need to explain species extinctions and sharp differences between rock strata. Furthermore, before an understanding of Ice Age glaciation, how else could geologists explain such profound changes as the movement of enormous boulders across the landscape? Nevertheless, in seeking to explain the creation of mountains, Péron’s mind was open to new theories of uplift. Like such geologists as Leopold von Buch and his own expedition colleague Joseph Bailly, he initially had orthodox ‘Neptunist’ sympathies regarding water as the fundamental agent of geological change,21 but soon recognised the volcanic origins of the mountainous Canary Islands and the Ile de France.22 He also understood that the fossil record was intimately linked to the present. Indeed, during his travels he would make an important discovery of a so-called ‘living fossil’, the bivalve Neotrigonia in Tasmania. This gained the attention of Lamarck,23 who rejected catastrophism and posited a broadly uniformitarian approach to the geological past.


Baudin, despite his avowed interest in the natural sciences, was simply intellectually ill-equipped to recognise the full importance of Péron’s efforts during the expedition. Indeed Péron’s work was often ridiculed in Baudin’s journal—such sentiments must have sharpened the naturalist’s contempt for the commander of the expedition when he eventually read his words in preparation for writing the official Voyage.


Even though Péron’s conclusions were sometimes far-fetched, he helped to broaden the empirical foundations of the natural sciences. He was, for example, one of the founders of oceanography, and his pioneering work on seawater temperatures has particular resonance today, because ocean temperature studies have provided key baseline indicators in the debate over one of the most important issues facing humanity: global warming and climate change. As we shall see, even in his own time, this research on ocean temperatures at different depths not only overturned classical Aristotelian notions about heat generated by the agitation of sea waves but also challenged ideas about heat transfer from the core of the globe via the mantle posited by such intellectual giants as Buffon and Leibnitz.24


Péron’s writings also offer arresting evidence of an astute ecological understanding, an appreciation of conservation issues and an analysis of human impact on the environment. Although Richard Grove did not mention him in his landmark study Green Imperialism, Péron certainly has a place among the select group of prescient British, Dutch and French scientists who offered an environmental critique of colonial ventures. His observations on several of Australia’s offshore islands are particularly relevant, because most of these islands (with the exception of Tasmania) were uninhabited by Aborigines and only recently visited by sealers. This gave them an Edenic—albeit parched—quality in Péron’s eyes as well as offering a new focus on the natural equilibrium, the finiteness of resources in restricted locations and the precious quality of unique and vulnerable species that could easily be driven to extinction by human greed or the introduction of feral animals. Péron’s visits to Mauritius, before and after his visits to King Island, Nuyts Archipelago, Kangaroo Island and Bernier Island, probably also reinforced historical perceptions of species extinction (with particular reference to the dodo) and human-induced ecological change: he certainly noted local comments on the nexus between deforestation and reduced rainfall on the island.


The French Revolution gave opportunity to many men of merit, such as Baudin and Péron. Not surprisingly, some who had previously enjoyed privilege resented the new power relations. Although Baudin might have been despised by officers from such backgrounds, I personally do not believe class antagonism was the fundamental cause of his problems. His immediate subordinates, Louis and Henry de Freycinet, were both from the nobility, but if they were so governed by class prejudices, how can we explain their close friendship with François Péron, the son of a humble tailor? Some people get on well; others despise each other. Baudin, like William Bligh, had a demanding, uncharismatic and sometimes abrasive command style that made him many enemies—neither captain was ever accused of violence or brutality, but both were harsh with those they believed did not pull their weight—and, just like Bligh, Baudin’s extraordinary navigational achievements are often overlooked. But, unlike Bligh, who had the good fortune to publish his own version of events and defend himself against accusations of poor management, stinginess and even fraud, Baudin died before he could return home and do so. Conversely, Péron was no Fletcher Christian. He stuck it out, even after many of his colleagues deserted, died or were sent back to France. Although a dreamy, unpunctual individualist with a tendency to speak his mind, he was always committed to his duties and lived a sobre and morally upright life, aiding his impoverished sisters and working furiously against the ticking clock of a terminal illness. Yet, when he wrote the official account of the expedition, he made few worthy references to its late commander and magnified Baudin’s every fault in his text. Similarly, Péron never forgave Baudin for his seeming intention to leave him to a waterless death at Shark Bay in March 1803. A landsman, born far from the sea, Péron was prone to ill-qualified and unfair pronouncements on navigational matters. Ironically, this landsman would also gain an important place in the history of the marine sciences. Although there is little doubt that Baudin had many enemies, there is also little doubt that Péron had many friends. After his death, one of them, Pierre-François Keraudren, chief physician of the navy, wrote:




M. Péron’s physiognomy always bore an expression of gentleness and sensibility: the warmth of his intellect, the vivacity of his character were tempered by an extreme kindness that came straight from the heart; to his other attributes was added an extreme modesty. Such was his freedom from affectation, and I would add his frankness, that one could not resist his charming ways and his conversation. Academics, savants, people of rank appreciated his worth and loved him for himself. He was admitted by several important officials into their inner circle and they provided him daily with the most profound attachment. It could be said of him what does not apply to many others: his talents were many, but he had many friends.25





Any understanding of Baudin’s and Péron’s personalities, and their animosity, is limited by the sources available. Wherever possible I have returned to the original sources, but I also want my readers to draw upon their own emotional sensibilities. The late Manning Clark urged historians to nourish the ‘eye of pity’ in the reader. I have never forgotten his advice. Although I have not sought to write an apologia for Péron, I believe his life cannot be fully understood without recognition of the onerous conditions under which he laboured—conditions that cost the lives of many of his colleagues and probably contributed to his own premature death—in addition to the pervasive shadow of poverty, revolution, global war and the suffocating despotism of Bonaparte’s imperium. Ultimately, even if my readers cannot forgive Péron for his ambition and bitterness towards Baudin, I believe they will still be fascinated by his impetuous, adventurous life and impressive scientific achievements.
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Cérilly
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The little town spreads out among the fields, as calmly and as comfortably as one would stretch one’s elbows. In the pure country air, along a hill, it is clean and docile, sleeping, resting. It can be seen from a distance on a road at the end of an alley of poplars, with its roofs of tile or slate. This perspective magnifies the importance of the small houses in the lower quarter …


CHARLES-LOUIS PHILIPPE,1 Le père Perdrix


CÉRILLY is a small Bourbonnais town in the very heart of France. Although some have argued that it takes its name from an ancient local word serre meaning a hill, others have made reference to Gallo-Roman sites in the vicinity and suggested an association with Ceres, the Roman goddess of corn.2 Whatever its etymology, there can be little doubt that Cérilly was once a fortified hill habitation. To this day, the vestiges of a feudal château and moat, first mentioned in 1073, can be seen in its centre. But the town rests on still more ancient foundations of Triassic sandstone overlaid with Pliocene soils of clay, sand and gravel. By French standards these soils are poor, but to Australian eyes they seem bountiful and well watered. Local farmers plant rye and potato or raise sturdy white Charolais cattle on fields broidered with wooded thickets. The nearby vales are gentle—for the foothills of the Massif Central are twenty kilometres to the south—and fringe the vast arc of the forests of Tronçais and Civrais. These rich woodlands of oak and beech, covering more than 10 000 hectares, were once the property of the Dukes of Bourbon, but were confiscated by Francis I in 1528 and sequestered by Colbert for the use of the French navy in 1670. They remain in state hands.


François Péron was born in Cérilly, on the edge of these forests, on 22 August 1775. His mother, Françoise Bouchicot, was a local woman and descended from at least three generations of merchant drapers. His father, after whom he was named, was a 39-year-old master tailor who hailed from nearby Epineuil-le-Fleuriel (Cher) and a descendant of respectable members of the rural bourgeoisie. One of François’ paternal grandfathers and his great-grandfather had been royal notaries; and a great-great grandfather, also named François Péron, had been a procureur in the town of Hérisson. Baptised3 in Cérilly’s eleventh-century church of Saint-Martin,4 François was the first child of a union consecrated less than ten months. Five other children followed, but only François and two sisters—Marie-Anne (known as Rosalie) and Cécile—survived.5


It is not certain in which residence François Péron was born. The family did own a house, but two years after François’ birth, his father leased it to one Jean Roger Gillet.6 After Gillet’s death—when François was about seven years old—this house was sold to Gillet’s widow and family, payments being spread over three years. We also know that François’ father, with another Cérillien named Jean-Baptiste Muguet, rented a property from a local procurator named Pierre Raby de La Lande.7 This might well have been the house, in the embrace of the now-demolished town walls, where François Péron was raised—almost certainly the present-day Hôtel Chez Chaumat on the corner of what is now the rue François Péron and the entry to the rue Mistaudin (once a town gate, the Porte Mistaudon). In this hotel one can still see an ancient circular staircase and a vaulted passageway that leads to a small courtyard, ancient cellars and dark oak-beamed stables. Thanks to several notarial documents, we have some idea of the domestic life of the Péron family soon after François’ father’s death at the age of forty-five on 8 December 1783.8 The future naturalist was then just eight-and-a-half years old.


Despite having significant assets, François senior left substantial debts, and his widow sought to protect herself with an inventory and valuation of their joint property. On 5 March 1784, two royal notaries, Pierre-Lazare Petitjean and Jean-François Bourgoing, were present when a pair of local merchants acted as expert valuers of the household effects.9 Bourgoing also acted as trustee of young François and his sisters, who had not yet attained their majority. Walking into the living room, where the hearth was used for cooking, the widow Péron showed the officials every candlestick and lamp, pot and pan, glass and goblet, plate and piece of cutlery, that she owned—and there were many in her well-equipped kitchen.10


There were three beds in the first room inspected by the valuers, and this is presumably where the children slept. One was a small single bed of dark oak near the chimney. It had curtains and a mattress of straw, then floss and chicken feathers. The cover was of feathers, but there was also a woollen blanket and a quilted woollen bedspread. The other two beds were also of oak and had similar mattresses and covers, but were in the more expensive ‘Duchess’ style and had painted cloth bedspreads and yellow-bordered curtains of cinnamon-coloured serge. In the living room the family had several tables covered with a printed tablecloth and eleven straw-topped chairs that had seen better days. There were few ornaments in the room, save a number of utilitarian items with simple inherent beauty: copper, iron and pewter utensils, a porcelain sugar basin, a tin box, a small mirror and a shotgun that had no hammer. In eighteenth-century Cérilly—far from the sea and the mines of Alsace, Lorraine and Franche-Comté—salt was a precious condiment and the principal means of food conservation, subject to the gabelle, or salt tax.11 The Péron family kept theirs under lock and key. Indeed their four pounds of salt was valued at five livres and was hence more valuable than its weight in silver. The inventory indicates that the Péron family also had a salting-tub and cover.12


The room next to the family living room contained two other Duchess-style beds, graced with eiderdowns and green serge curtains bordered with yellow ribbon, and a handsome two-door walnut wardrobe with two drawers. François’ parents might have slept here normally, but perhaps from time to time they vacated the room for paying guests.13 Without doubt the room had a public role, for it contained a billiard table and a dozen chairs. In another part of the room—presumably near a window with a good source of natural light—was a tailor’s work-bench in oak, laden with scissors, thread, irons for pressing seams and oak candle boxes. Six iron candlesticks facilitated work at night. A pair of firedogs with yellow copper knobs appear to have stood guard in front of an iron stove. Eleven shirts—probably among the last the tailor ever made—were hung or stacked in anticipation of future customers. Eighteen plied sheets of cloth, each five ells long, were at hand for making other clothes. One can readily imagine François senior heating his irons on the stove or cutting cloth at his bench while clients bided their time around the billiard table in an acrid blue haze of tobacco smoke. Aside from François’ father’s work as a tailor, the Péron family appear to have run a café or tavern14 and traded in tobacco.15


A tailor is a walking advertisement for his art and often for the fine product of far-off looms. François’ father was partial to green and grey trousers of heavy woollen twilled ratine and strong Silesian linen. Aside from a sleeved jacket of Silesian cloth, he owned four vests, including one of yellow-striped calico. But in early March 1784 the tailor Péron had already reposed three months in his grave: his colourful clothes, and even his hat, clogs, shoes, buckles and stockings, were being valued by a widow anxious to pay his debts.


There were two separate attics in the house. In the first, above the billard room, the Péron family kept its larder and stored its wheat and barley and a mill to grind its grain. This attic also contained chests, trestles and lumber, and another small bed and a modest lockable oak wardrobe. A female employee might have slept here.16 In the other attic above the living room, there was an oak chest (with what appears to have been decorative metal lockwork), a woodworking bench and several tables and trestles. In a storeroom downstairs there was a copper laundry tub and, in the cellar, a washtub linked with three ‘elbow-pipes’. In the stable, the Péron family kept their horse with its saddle, bridle and an old blue blanket. Two covered horse-baskets, a pair of pack-saddles and a variety of tools and implements completed the écurie, along with three tonnes of hay in the loft.17


We do not know how good a father François senior was, but his death, at such an impressionable age for his son, represented a loss of financial security and very likely love and mentoring as well. François’ enduring loyalty to his sisters suggests strong family bonds and that he assumed many paternal responsibilities thrust upon him as the senior sibling and only male of the Péron brood. This, in turn, would engender considerable self-reliance in years to come, despite a deep attachment to his resourceful mother—the dominant focus of his childhood. No one would ever replace his father, although François appears later to have been drawn affectionately to the father of his closest friend, the artist Charles-Alexandre Lesueur, whom he addressed as ‘Mon cher papa Lesueur’.18


When François senior died, his widow declared that she found the sum of fifty-eight livres in cash in the house. The notaries then assisted her in listing her late husband’s debtors and summarising his ‘titles and papers’. The widow Péron also declared that if she acquired additional knowledge of her husband’s affairs she would make a further declaration. And so it was that fifteen months later, on 10 June 1785, she returned to the office of the notary Pierre-Lazare Petitjean, in the company of a merchant named Jean Clostre from Theneuille. A document dated 4 December 1780 was presented which made it clear that the late tailor and his widow owed Clostre more than 384 livres. Clostre had demanded payment, but the widow had insufficient funds. To buy time, in the face of impending litigation, she sought to divide the debt in two and technically share it with her youngest child Cécile, who clearly had no means to pay. Recognising that a court case would only amount to further financial attrition, the exasperated Clostre abandoned his law suit and agreed to an alternative proposal: that the debt be divided into instalments over the next four years and that the widow’s merchant brother, Pierre Bouchicot, would act as her guarantor.19


Perhaps the most striking aspect of Pierre Bouchicot’s rescue of his sister is that he appears to have been illiterate and was unable to sign the agreement to reschedule her debt. He was not the only one in the future naturalist’s immediate family environment who was unlettered. François’ godmother, Marie-Anne Péron, was also unable to sign.20 Should it be a surprise, therefore, that the inventory of the Péron family home makes no mention whatsoever of any books? Yet, in 1811, Marie-Joseph Alard remarked that ‘Péron had an extreme passion for reading’ and that he was fortunate to have ‘an excellent choice of books at his disposal’. His mother, however, is said to have attempted to curtail his voracious reading, fearing it was bad for his health. According to Alard, Péron would ‘hide in the attics, climbing even on to the roof to read there in tranquillity’.21 Another early biographer, Louis Audiat, would write of Péron’s childhood: ‘The day did not suffice for his passionate ardour; the night was also dedicated to reading. When he was refused light, for fear that the immoderate prolongation of his wakefulness would harm his health, he was often surprised, at a late hour, laboriously reading the pages of a book painfully illuminated by the moon.’22 Indeed, by his late teens, François is known to have suffered from ophthalmic problems—perhaps exacerbated by his reading habits. (According to Emile Guillaumin, this was the result of smallpox,23 but his surviving portraits do not betray the tell-tale facial scarring of this disease.) We do not know which books François first pored over or where they came from, but he appears to have been steeped in the classics. The Bourbonnais, in particular Moulins, has a long history of book printing;24 and there were books in private hands and in religious libraries in Cérilly during François’ childhood and youth. But before an enquiring young man can make use of a book, he must first have learned to read.


From the beginning of the seventeenth century there had been two schools in Cérilly: one for boys and one for girls. The former carried the name of a college because it taught Latin. Some idea of François’ education can be gained from what was expected of his teachers. Traditionally the choice of schoolmaster had been made in Cérilly after rallying the townsfolk with the church bells and, in the presence of local notables, submitting the candidate to an examination in reading, writing, arithmetic and Latin. The successful candidate undertook to teach three hours in the morning and three hours in the afternoon every day of the week—except all day Thursday in summer and on Thursday afternoon in winter. The schoolmaster also had to prove he was Catholic and undertake to teach the catechism every Saturday evening and conduct the children to mass every Sunday.25


At the time of François Péron’s birth, Jean-François Bourgoing—whom we have already met in his capacity as a notary—had been rector of the school for a decade.26 Bourgoing came from Issoudun (Indre) and, in 1766, had married one of François’ cousins, Louise Péron. He had also been present at François’ parents’ wedding and was his sister Cécile’s godfather. When the widow Péron made Bourgoing her son’s trustee, she made an inspired choice. Although Bourgoing had handed over the duties of schoolmaster to Jean-Baptiste Baron in September 1775,27 it seems inconceivable that he did not involve himself in François’ primary education. A classicist whose favourite book was Plutarch’s Lives,28 Bourgoing seems likely to have been the teacher who first enthralled François with the lives of the great figures of ancient Greece and Rome. As he had written a manuscript on rabies, could it also be that Bourgoing first encourgaged François’ scientific curiosity? There can be little doubt that he would have responded enthusiastically to a precocious child with an unquenchable thirst for knowledge. Cérilly’s historian George Bodard has written of Bourgoing’s dynamic personality:




Endowed with a great facility for elocution and a great love of writing, with a depth of very serious knowledge, he does not lose an occasion to start speaking; on the contrary, he provokes it. His speech is vibrant, full of imagery, congenial, convinced … He charms his listeners; he arrests and rallies them to the cause he preaches—for it is a sermon which is more than a discourse—and at the same time he succeeds in convincing and winning over the most indecisive and the most incredulous.29





But, as we shall see, Péron’s relationship with Bourgoing was not always easy.


Jean-Baptiste Baron, Bourgoing’s successor as rector of the Collège de Cérilly, had previously been an advocate in Bourges. He too came from Issoudun, and there seems little doubt that he was anointed by Bourgoing, who for six years held the post of town clerk in Cérilly. Baron is known to have had an important influence on François Péron’s intellectual development.30 According to Joseph Deleuze, the former advocate was enchanted by the young man’s disposition and gave particular attention to his instruction. Deleuze added a personal footnote: ‘We have often heard Péron recall with affection the debt he had to this respectable old man.’ Deleuze also recorded that Péron’s ‘intelligence was announced in his early years by an extreme curiosity and by an active desire to learn’. He added that ‘to satisfy a passion for reading he had recourse to all the ruses which other children employed in order to play’.31


Whether François Péron’s interest in the natural sciences had been properly awakened in his teens is unknown. Given his future interests, it is hard to believe that the rich ecological web of the nearby Forest of Tronçais would have escaped his attention. Beneath the towering oaks, the understorey is largely composed of bracken, holly, lichen and moss as well as colourful flashes of orchid, lily (Polygonatum), eyebright (Euphrasia), pimpernel (Anagallis), valerian and forget-me-not (Myosotis) along with tangled heaths of erica and broom. It is also the domain of deer, boars, hares, badgers, martens and foxes, while the verdant canopy is commanded by a great diversity of birdlife, from orioles to eagles. And every level of the forest, be it beneath the bark or leaves of its highest branches, or amid its mossy knolls and decaying litter, is home to thousands of insect species. Moreover, Tronçais is intersected by numerous lakes and streams—teeming with frogs, snails, turtles, salamanders, eels and fish—which draw otters and waterfowl to feast among the reeds and bog bean.32


François’ school years were characterised by great sacrifices on the part of his widowed mother to enable him to obtain an education.33 He had only a small number of fellow students. Before the Revolution there were about thirty students at the Collège de Cérilly. Thereafter enrolments declined to about a dozen. The college itself was dilapidated. In 1791, when François was sixteen years old, it consisted of ‘a kitchen, an adjacent office, a lower room, a room which served for the instruction of the young, adjacent stables, two upper rooms, an attic—all in a bad state, a cellar and a very small garden’.34 It was in these ramshackle surroundings that the future naturalist mastered his own tongue and studied the Latin that would enable him to read the great scientific treatises of his age.


Yet at first this classical education seemed destined to support an ecclesiastic rather than a scientific career. When François completed his rhétorique—his final year of secondary education—he was initially encouraged to pursue a religious career by his mother and by the curate of Cérilly, Pierre Jean Marchand. According to Joseph Deleuze, Marchand ‘consented to take him into his house to teach him philosophy and theology’.35 During the Ancien Régime, a clerical career might have been a serious avenue of advancement for an intelligent young man of modest means,36 but now the Revolution had changed everything.





— 2 —


Revolution and war
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For the husbandman weeps at blights of the fife, and blasting of trumpets consume


The souls of mild France; the pale mother nourishes her child to the deadly slaughter.


WILLIAM BLAKE, The French Revolution, 1791


THE period immediately before the Revolution was one of great hardship for ordinary Frenchmen. Drought, the coldest winter since the beginning of the century, floods, severe food shortages and soaring prices1 cast a dark shadow over François Péron’s already insecure adolescence. He would later write that ‘the conditon of the European peasant was in many respects more unfortunate than that of the slaves of the Ile de France’.2


Although the French economy continued to grow, so too did the national debt after decades of mismanagement, royal excess and recurrent war. As early as 20 August 1786 the Controller-General of Finances, Charles-Alexandre de Calonne, had advised the King of an estimated deficit of eighty million livres (later increased by another thirty-two million livres).3 Despite France’s desperate need for a more equitable taxation system, the nobles refused to make concessions that would erode their privileges. The fiscal crisis deepened. In exasperation, on 8 August 1788, Louis XVI summoned the Estates General—an ancient assembly supposed to represent the entire nation, which had not met since 1614. Although short-term loans secured the government’s immediate fiscal needs, the King and his council had difficulty deciding the manner in which the Third Estate (commoners) should be represented. On 27 December 1788, Jacques Necker, the Controller-General of Finances, boldly recommended that it should have double the representatives of the other estates, arguing that the King should ally himself with the majority of his subjects. When Louis XVI agreed, the balance of political power began to shift away from the nobility. In Cérilly one of the deputies chosen to draft the cahiers de doléances (list of grievances) for the parish to be presented to the Estates General was François Péron’s trustee, Jean-François Bourgoing. Together with Pierre Raby de La Lande (from whom the Péron family rented their house) and Pierre-Lazare Petitjean, he sought the suppression of the salt and poll taxes, more equitable contribution to state revenues by the clergy (including the abolition of clerical exemption for the corvée),4 reform of the criminal code, an end to the abuses associated with the purchase of offices and a cap on royal pensions, gifts and concessions.5


When the Estates General finally opened on 5 May 1789, arguments still raged over the manner in which representatives should vote: by estate or as individuals.6 In the past, the estates had met separately, which had given the clergy and nobility the power of veto over the Third Estate. Now there were roughly 300 clerical and 300 noble representatives in the first two estates and 600 representatives of the Third Estate. Those who clung to a world of inequality and privilege feared any joint meeting of the estates that would provide an opportunity for progressive clerics and nobles to ‘cross the floor’ and bolster the votes of commoners. When, on 17 June 1789, the First Estate declared itself in favour of a vote by estate, the prospect of far-reaching national reform seemed over. But the Third Estate boldly responded by voting to constitute itself a ‘national assembly’. On 20 June, excluded from its usual meeting place, the commoners held an emergency meeting in a tennis court and took an oath not to disband until France had a constitution. Although the King sided with the First Estate and threatened to dissolve the Estates General through force of arms, defections by enlightened nobles and clerics made the momentum for change unstoppable. The storming of the Bastille and a series of urban and rural uprisings confirmed the collapse of royal authority.


In an environment in which revolt had become revolution, episodes of panic were not surprising, but no one expected the ‘Great Fear’, which began on 20 July 1789 with a rumour that brigands financed by aristocrats were about to launch widespread attacks to restore the old order. The hysteria reached the area around Cérilly at the end of July. In the previous year, iron forges had been established in the Forest of Tronçais by Nicolas de Rambourg, with the aid of timber concessions for charcoal (to enable smelting and forging) and water from the lake of Saint-Bonnet to power a mill, hammer and bellows.7 The local population of forest and metal workers was excited and agitated in the wake of the momentous events in Paris. The curate of Saint-Bonnet, neighbouring Cérilly, recorded what happened in his parish register:




30 July 1789 … a fearful panic general and universal … which lasted two days. Everybody, big and small, in the country like the towns, imagined that thieves and troops of brigands ranged the kingdom, [and] each believed that they would see them arriving in their area … all the fearful quit their houses, abandoned all that they had, hid their furniture and their money, plunged into the woods and the forests, where they rallied and withdrew to the neighbouring towns to take up arms together and prepare to fight and lay down their lives.8





Taking advantage of the Great Fear, on the night of 4 August 1789, the National Assembly voted to abolish feudal rights and the fiscal privileges of the nobility, clergy, towns and provinces.9 In the following year, the clergy became dependent on the state and were required to swear an oath of loyalty to the civil constitution. There were fifty-two priests in the district of Cérilly, including François’ clerical mentor Abbé Pierre Marchand, who took the oath. (Only two local priests refused and were deemed to have resigned.)10


The church was divested not only of its power but also of its property. In Cérilly, Jean-François Bourgoing was charged with surveying and valuing these nationalised clerical assets in 1790. He would rise rapidly in the local revolutionary administration.11 François Péron, however, would come to resent Bourgoing’s disrespect for traditional religious values,12 but perhaps he also resented him as his trustee—as an insecure child often resents the imposed authority of a stepfather.


On 21 June 1791 the King and the royal family were arrested at Varennes while attempting to flee the country to join émigrés menacing the fledgling French democracy. Austria and Prussia, although long-standing rivals, were united in their fear of the missionary zeal of the French Revolution, and issued a joint declaration at Pillnitz in August 1791, which threatened force if the French royal family was not released. For many in the National Assembly (particularly the deputies from the Gironde), the Prussian menace on the Rhine and the long-standing Austrian threat in the southern Netherlands were cause enough for war. Both sides miscalculated. The Austrian and Prussian monarchs thought France bankrupt, on the verge of administrative collapse and bereft of effective military leadership in the wake of mutiny and emigration. In contrast, the new government in Paris believed Austria and Prussia were on the verge of political upheaval with simmering popular sympathy for the values of the French Revolution. With the additional enthusiasm for potential territorial conquest on both sides, war was not long in coming.13 France declared war on Austria on 20 April and a week later invaded Belgium.14 Although the Austrians counter-attacked and were soon joined by the Prussians, on 20 September the French thwarted their invasion at Valmy and set the scene for protracted war. Three anxious days before the victory at Valmy, François Péron officially banished (if he had not already done so) thoughts of entering the Church and joined the 2nd Battalion of Volunteers for Allier—one of the new départements that replaced the old province of Bourbonnais.15


For the philosophes, with their distrust of the professional military as one of the pillars of the Ancien Régime, the notion of volunteer citizen soldiers was particularly attractive. While Jean-Jacques Rousseau believed that ‘all citizens should be soldiers through duty, none should be by profession’,16 Diderot saw the citizen wearing two costumes: one for his normal daily life and the other as a willing armed defender of the state.17 With the looming threat of Prussian and Austrian invasion, the National Assembly attempted to put in practice the ideal of citizen soldiers and form 169 volunteer battalions using the National Guard as a nucleus. Unfortunately, enough recruits stepped forward to make up only sixty battalions.


In the wake of the decree of 11 July 1792, which declared the ‘fatherland in danger’, the efforts to create a second battalion of volunteers for Allier were marked by a lack of local enthusiasm. The département of Allier was expected to create a battalion of 800 ‘volunteers’, and Cérilly was expected to provide fifty of these men. On 6 September the town council complained that Cérilly was but a small town and would need to raise men in the countryside: ‘our labourers naturally have much aversion to the profession of arms and have ideas too limited to be moved by patriotism; we ask of you to advise us positively of the regulation to follow, so that in this circumstance the regulation will be uniform’.18 The means ultimately used appear to have been directed at the urban population ‘to the exclusion of the countryside’.19 Power relations in Cérilly had changed in the wake of the Revolution, but local politics was always destined to have subtle patterns of patronage, coercion and reciprocity. Ultimately, François Péron was among a small group of young men sent to Moulins.


Virtually all the existing summaries of François Péron’s life would have us believe that he was an ardent volunteer in 1792. Marie-Joseph Alard wrote that the young man’s soul was penetrated with ‘noble enthusiasm’ and that in such a milieu of ‘boiling agitation’ one could well believe that he did not listen long to Abbé Pierre Marchand, who wished him to enter the priesthood. Emile Guillaumin declared eloquently that the ‘breath of new hopes filled François’ meagre breast’ and that he wished to ‘live free and fight for a great cause’. Guillaumin even went so far as to declare that François might have enlisted in ‘a moment of enthusiasm, perhaps unreflected, without informing his family’.20 More recently Dr Georges Rigondet, in his semi-fictionalised account of Péron’s life, has given free reign to notions of patriotic zeal.21


Although some volunteers might have made a genuinely free choice based on revolutionary commitment, many others did not. It should be remembered that François Péron did not volunteer to join the 1st Battalion of volunteers raised in Allier, as had Bourgoing’s son Jean. A number of historians have contrasted the revolutionary patriotism of the volunteers of the 1st Battalion with the lack of cohesion, indiscipline and avarice of the men of the 2nd Battalion, who signed up for a pay of fifteen sols per day. There is also important contemporary evidence of what Lieutenant Colonel Dulac considered ‘an implicit requisition’.22 According to General Armand Biron, the latter volunteers ‘were nothing but fellows bought by the communes and the majority vagrants’.23 And one of the administrators of Moulins wrote scathingly to General Adam-Philippe Custine, commander of the Army of the Rhine: ‘Rich folk daily purchase men to replace their children, notably in the 2nd Battalion of Allier which is part of your army … we are therefore under the Ancien Régime, since the rich can exempt themselves from service in person … Where is the decreed equality? It only exists in word and not deed.’24 François, with neither wealth nor father, bowed to his perceived obligations and very likely the cajoling of such powerful locals as his trustee, the new town prosecutor Jean-François Bourgoing. Some idea of François’ actual enthusiasm for taking up arms can be gauged from the fact that a few days after ‘volunteering’, he promptly requested permission to defer his departure until the following spring ‘because of his feeble constitution and infirmities … [and] impaired sight’! His request was denied by the Procurer-General in Moulins on 1 September 1791.25 This was more than two weeks before his official enlistment date of 17 September 1792. He is said to have departed amid the ‘tears and reproaches of his mother and sisters’.26 Four days later, France became a republic.


The volunteers wore blue (as had the National Guard), while soldiers of the line wore white. The higher daily pay of the undisciplined volunteers was a source of resentment for regular troops. They, in turn, were dismissed as servile and disdainfully called culs-blancs (‘white arses’) by the volunteers. No height was recorded for François Péron in the muster roll, although Jean-Baptiste Brugière stated that he was of medium height and very thin. Empress Joséphine was said later only to have referred to him as her petit ami (little friend);27 he probably was small by modern standards, but this expression has less literal connotations of endearment in French. The other Cérilliens who joined the battalion with him were also small men: Gilbert Charretier and Claude Gellert were both only five feet tall; Pierre Retif was just an inch taller.


Initially the men were placed under the control of the officers of the National Guard, until they conducted elections for their own officers. Overall command of the battalion was conferred on François-Claude Gosse (hitherto a tax officer), who was given the rank of lieutenant colonel. François was elected corporal.28 He could not have been well known to the other young men from surrounding areas who elected him, but perhaps they recognised the usefulness of his education and his connections with local revolutionary notables during their initial musters. Jean-Baptiste Brugière, himself elected a non-commissioned officer in the 2nd Company, recalled more than sixty years later that he recognised a ‘superior intelligence’ in the young man from Cérilly who would become a lifelong friend.29


Most of the men were billeted in barracks in the Madeleine quarter of Moulins left vacant by the Royal Guyenne Regiment.30 The rest were lodged in the Convent of the Sisters of the Cross and the Convent of the Ursulines, which had been forcibly emptied a few days before,31 but also (as in the case of François’ 7th Company) in the homes of local residents —a heavy burden for townfolk who faced ‘the continual passage of troops or volunteers from other departments returning to the front’.32 In Moulins they received about five weeks of rudimentary training. A popular local surgeon named Justier treated the sick.33 The equipping of the volunteers proceeded haphazardly. Two commissaires were sent to Lyon to purchase cloth for uniforms and ‘other necessary furnishings’, unavailable locally.34 But only 120 complete uniforms, 275 vests and 239 pairs of trousers had been received by the time the men set off for the front: more than 600 remained unfinished in Lyon and Moulins. Weapons were also in short supply. The men were issued with 400 or 500 ‘bad muskets’. Additional firearms were scoured locally ‘to complete their arming’.35


The 2nd Battalion of Allier set off from Moulins with much patriotic fanfare on 8 November 1792. They first headed east through the Bois de Bordes, golden in its autumn mantle, then crossed the Loire at Le Fourneau. After spending the night in Bourbon-Lancy, they headed north-east to Luzy, which had few provisions to offer the weary men.36 The volunteers spent their third night in Autun—where Talleyrand had recently been bishop. François Péron left no account of his march to the front, but Sergeant Major Allard declared in his journal that Autun was ‘agreeable enough’.37 The next day, in the heart of Burgundy, they delighted in the famous local wines.


After a week on the road, François and his comrades reached Auxonne and then struck out for the strategic town of Pesmes perched on a rock above the River Ognon. The beautiful château, belonging to the duc de Choiseul, was still standing at the time and gave a commanding view of the surrounding ‘plains, forests and small mountains’,38 but four years later it was sold in the wake of the duke’s emigration and demolished by a speculator hungry to profit from the resale of its stone and timbers.39 Almost due north of Pesmes lay the town of Gray, which the men reached on the ninth day of their march. Here they appear to have spent the night in the barracks, which offered an expansive view of the magnificent plains. Allard wrote: ‘One sees the Saône successively dividing and reuniting like ten or twelve schoolboys playing on the bars.’40 After passing through the beautiful villages of Franche-Comté, which Louis XIV had wrested from the Hapsburgs little more than a century before, Péron and his comrades entered the Vosges Mountains and on 22 November reached the small town of La Marche. Sergeant Major Allard recorded nothing more than that he detested the place, but other sources give us a glimpse of the mob-like behaviour of the Allier volunteers after their arrival. About midday, with ostentatious revolutionary zeal, a local man named Planté began singing ‘Ça ira, les aristocrats à la lanterne’. This caused one of the municipal officers, Benoît André, to become anxious that the volunteers might think that aristocrats were in the town when they were not. To Citizen André’s horror, Planté mischievously took up his violin and began singing in front of the municipal officer’s home. Sure enough, a rabble of men from Allier, believing that André’s large house belonged to members of the hated aristocracy, milled about and began to ‘talk of forcing the door and killing them all’. Considerable effort was required to quell their ugly bravado.41 On other occasions, the men doubtless sang the ‘Marseillaise’, ‘the hymn’, which Péron would later write, ‘was so unhappily prostituted during the Revolution, but which is nevertheless so full of enthusiasm and spirit’.42 From La Marche the volunteers proceeded north-east to the dirty village of Lignéville in which Péron and his comrades ‘were obliged to lodge in tens and twelves in the barns’.43 On they walked, on the rough mountainous roads of the Vosges to Charmes on the River Moselle where they rested for two nights, probably in the cloisters of the Capuchin monks, who had been dispersed the previous January.44


After three weeks’ walk in the cold winter weather, the 2nd Battalion reached the heavily fortified redoubt of Phalsbourg. All this time they had been destined for Strasbourg, but now they received orders to proceed to Landau, which was under attack. After passing through the forested Col de Saverne, they entered the province of Alsace and spent the night in Haguenau—bustling with ‘a garrison and the frequent passage of troops’45—before resting in Wissembourg and reaching the front on 4 December 1792 ‘in very bad weather’. Péron, with eyes now badly inflamed by exposure, was promptly hospitalised.46


Landau has changed a great deal since the late-eighteenth century. Neo-classical stucco façades have replaced half-timbered medieval buildings —still so characteristic of nearby towns, such as Wissembourg. There are also few signs of its former fortifications: railways and roads have replaced the complex of multiangular walls, gates and bastions designed by Sébastien Vauban in 1687 to withstand artillery fire and to enfilade attackers.47 On their arrival, the volunteers from Allier were sent to defensive positions on the northern outskirts of the town, but withdrew intra muros two days later. Thirty thousand regular French troops and volunteers faced eighty thousand Prussians. Back in hospital after his first night’s sentry duty, François would soon learn of the execution of Louis XVI in early 1793.


In the winter months that followed, he and the other inexperienced volunteers from Allier were organised and trained for battle, but their contact with the enemy was at first restricted to opportunistic sorties to Edesheim, Germersheim and neighbouring Nussdorf and hasty withdrawals under artillery fire.48 It would seem that some of the sorties, in late March, were intended to achieve more aggressive results, for one of the 2nd Battalion’s inglorious retreats sparked bitter recriminations. We know from a letter written home by one of the men, a volunteer named Delageneste, that Lieutenant Colonel Gosse arrested ‘the captain of the advance guard who had not shot volunteers who had retreated’.49 Here was an attempt to enforce discipline, in the most ruthless manner, by an officer who probably had little more military training than the men under him. On the battalion’s return from Nussdorf, three of its sentries had cause to fire on an enemy patrol, but Delageneste recognised their good fortune compared to another battalion, which, two days later, lost forty men.50 Their real baptism of fire had yet to come.


Despite General Custine’s efforts to keep the Austro-Prussian forces at bay between Landau and Wissembourg, the enemy noose began to tighten. Péron’s comrade, Delageneste, gives us an idea of what it was like inside Landau in early April: ‘The town here is full of troops; in every corner, one pitches tents, in all the forts and on all the places … the generals, commandants and a part of the population swear to sooner die than to speak of surrender, but I believe that the siege will not last long if there is fire in the town.’51 By April the troops ‘touched no money’ and were now paid in assignats (promissory notes). Inevitably prices soared and shops closed rather than accept seemingly worthless paper.52 By May, bottles of mediocre wine cost more than two days’ wages.53 Patrols by the 2nd Battalion and firefights with the enemy were now a frequent occurrence. Jean Tullat, another volunteer in François Péron’s company, wrote to his mother on 7 May that they were involved in combat every day and often took prisoners, but his principal complaint was that he and his comrades slept on straw and ‘more often outside’. Tullat also informed his mother that an arsenal had gone up in flames with the loss of 3000 muskets and an unknown number of lives.54 Six of François’ comrades died in a significant engagement on 22 July.55 Although the volunteers from Allier received praise for their bravery, there were at least eleven desertions from the battalion during this period. Their mettle would be tested further when 55 000 Austrians under General Dagobert Würmser, together with 2500 émigrés under the Prince de Condé,56 captured Wissembourg and blockaded Landau on 27 July.


Even earlier, the setbacks experienced by the over-extended French army had had internal political repercussions: the relatively moderate Girondins deputies in the National Convention (which replaced the National Assembly when France became a republic on 21 September 1792) were overthrown in early June 1793, and sweeping powers were granted to a twelve-member executive known as the Committee for Public Safety. Dominated by Maximilien Robespierre and the ‘Mountain’57 faction of the Jacobin leadership, the committee met the counter-revolutionary crisis with ruthless efficiency. In August 1793, on the advice of Danton and then Lazare Carnot, it ordered universal conscription, which raised the largest army Europe had ever seen and permanently changed the face of modern warfare.58 On 5 September 1793, a ‘Reign of Terror’ was initiated to crush all domestic opposition (by the end of July 1794, 16 594 people had been guillotined and between 18 000 and 23 000 others had died in prison or as a result of summary mass executions during bloody counter-insurgency operations in the west and in the cities).59


In besieged Landau, discipline was also ruthlessly enforced; at least twenty-nine executions took place on the orders of the military tribunal, and there were summary executions for those who spoke of surrender.60 For François it must have been a savage contrast to the life he had enjoyed in Cérilly (for all its difficulties and privations). Furthermore, denunciations and bitter feuding also occurred between Landau’s own militant revolutionaries, led by Georg-Friedrich Dentzel,61 and the tenacious French garrison commander, Joseph-Marie Tenet de Laubadère.62 A career soldier who had joined the army at nineteen, Laubadère had spent fifteen years as a captain in the corps of engineers. Although from a noble family, he did not flee the country as did many other army officers during the Revolution. For his loyalty and ability he received swift promotion. By May 1793 he held the rank of général de division, and so too did his brother Germain.63


After the withdrawal of the majority of the French troops from Landau under Custine, Laubadère took charge of 4200 townsfolk and 5000 troops in the town.64 Surrounded after the fall of Wissembourg, he had enough bread and biscuits for only 137 days. Recognising that strict rationing of these food stocks was crucial to the survival of his besieged garrison, but not knowing how long the ordeal would last, he came into conflict with his civilian counterparts, whom he accused of ‘impolitic consumption at different stages of the siege’. Ultimately Laubadère managed to hold out for 150 days65 by further dividing his meagre resources, ordering foraging sorties and slaughtering 171 horses for meat.66 In the charged atmosphere of political recriminations relating to conduct during the siege, a hundred volunteers overtly supported Labaudère and (in March 1794) signed a declaration condemning Dentzel’s administration. Despite assertions that Labaudère had even more supporters, they appear to have been confined to the lower ranks; only one corporal was among the signatories. Corporal Péron did not sign, but his fellow Cérillien, Pierre Retif, did.67


Many of the volunteers were members of revolutionary ‘sociétés populaires’ in Allier. Lieutenant Colonel Gosse was secretary in Moulins, and he established close links with Dentzel and his like-minded democrats in Landau when the 2nd Battalion arrived. Those who knew François Péron recorded that ‘he spoke many times’ of Landau’s société populaire.68 One can assume that many of the volunteer NCOs were both committed revolutionaries and distrustful of career army officers—especially nobles with Ancien Régime credentials—but we cannot assume that Péron held such views. Rumours of spies and traitors were rife. Volunteers such as Jean Tullat, for example, were fully aware that General Dumouriez, commander of the Army of the North, had abandoned his men and sought refuge with the Austrians in April 1793.69 He was also aware of the French reverses at Mainz and no doubt soon learned of General Custine’s recall and execution on 27 August. (Previously a marquis, Custine had already incurred the hatred of many volunteers for ordering the execution of French looters in Speyer in October 1792.) Many must also have been aware that General Würmser, who led the enemy they faced, was born in Strasbourg and had once served in the French army. On one occasion, when Landau’s defences were almost overwhelmed, one volunteer from Indre later declared that the traitors had been fortuitously exposed thanks to the timely intercession of the ‘supreme being’!70


The 2nd Battalion made thirteen sorties during August 1793—mainly in search of food. The volunteers came under artillery fire during one sortie to the Infling Heights on 12 August without loss of life, but some days later one of their number was shot dead while leaving a hay loft.71 One wonders with what meagre provisions François celebrated his eighteenth birthday on 22 August. Despite dwindling rations, Laubadère ordered only three sorties in September and October 1793 respectively;72
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